
 

 
 

EXECUTIVE DECISION DAY NOTICE 
 
 
 

Leader and Executive Member for Hampshire 2050 and 
Corporate Services & Deputy Leader and Executive Member for 
Hampshire 2050 and Corporate Services Decision Days 
 

Date and Time Thursday, 14th March, 2024 at 2.00 pm 
  
Place Remote Meeting - MS Teams 
  
Enquiries to members.services@hants.gov.uk 
  
Carolyn Williamson FCPFA 
Chief Executive 
The Castle, Winchester SO23 8UJ 
 
FILMING AND BROADCAST NOTIFICATION 
This Decision Day is being held remotely and will be recorded and broadcast live via 
the County Council’s website. 

AGENDA 
  
LEADER AND EXECUTIVE MEMBER FOR HAMPSHIRE 2050 AND 
CORPORATE SERVICES 
  
Deputations 
 
 To receive any deputations notified under Standing Order 12. 

  
NON KEY DECISIONS (NON-EXEMPT/NON-CONFIDENTIAL) 
  
1. AWARDS FROM COMMUNITY GRANT SCHEMES  (Pages 3 - 12) 
 
 To consider a report of the Director of Hampshire 2050 seeking approval 

to awards from several community grant schemes. 
  

2. APPOINTMENT TO OUTSIDE BODIES, STATUTORY JOINT 
COMMITTEES, PANELS AND PARTNERSHIP BOARDS  (Pages 13 - 
14) 

 
 To consider a report of the Director of People and Organisation regarding 

a replacement appointment to an outside body. 
  

KEY DECISIONS (NON-EXEMPT/NON-CONFIDENTIAL) 
  
3. CORPORATE OFFICE ACCOMMODATION STRATEGY - LESS 

EXEMPT APPENDICES  (Pages 15 - 28) 
 

Public Document Pack



 To consider a report of the Director of Hampshire 2050 regarding the 
County Council’s Corporate Office Accommodation Strategy. 
  

EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 
 That the public be excluded from the meeting during the following item of 

business, as it is likely, in view of the nature of the business to be 
transacted or the nature of the proceedings, that if members of the public 
were present during this item there would be disclosure to them of 
exempt information within Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12 A of the 
Local Government Act 1972, and further that in all the circumstances of 
the case, the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the 
public interest in disclosing the information, for the reasons set out in the 
report. 
  

KEY DECISIONS (EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL) 
  
4. CORPORATE OFFICE ACCOMMODATION STRATEGY - EXEMPT 

APPENDICES  (Pages 29 - 44) 
 
 To consider exempt appendices to Item 3 on the agenda. 

  
NON KEY DECISIONS (EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL) 
 
 None 

 
 
 
 
ABOUT THIS AGENDA: 
On request, this agenda can be provided in alternative versions (such as 
large print, Braille or audio) and in alternative languages. 
 
ABOUT THIS SESSION: 
The press and public are welcome to observe the public sessions of the 
decision day via the webcast. 



HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Decision Report 
 
Decision Maker: Leader and Executive Member for Hampshire 2050 and 

Corporate Services 

Date: 14 March 2024 

Title: Awards from Community Grant Schemes 

Report From: Director of Hampshire 2050 

Contact name: Emma Noyce, Lisa Wood and Miranda Woolfenden 

Tel:    0370 779 8373  Email: emma.noyce@hants.gov.uk  

Purpose of this Report 

1. The report considers two applications for grants from the Leader’s Community 
Grant Fund, one application from the Parish Town Council Investment Fund 
(PTCIF) and one application from the Rural Community Fund (RCF) for 
2023/24. 

Recommendation 

2. That the Leader and Executive Member for Hampshire 2050 and Corporate 
Services approves: 
a) Two grants totalling £18,900 from the Leader’s Community Grant Fund 

2023/24 to cultural and community organisations in Hampshire, as set out 
in Appendix 1. 

b) One grant totalling £5,278 from the Parish and Town Council Investment 
Fund, as set out in Appendix 2. 

c) One grant totalling £5,000 from the Rural Community Fund, as set out in 
Appendix 3. 

Executive Summary 

3. Two organisations have applied for a grant through the Leader’s Community 
Grant Fund totalling £40,176, one organisation has applied for a grant from 
the Parish Town Council Investment Fund (PTCIF) totalling £5,278 and one 
organisation has applied for a grant from the Rural Community Fund (RCF) 
totalling £5,000, for 2023/24. 

4. The report considers the applications and recommends the awards totalling 
£18,900 from the Leader’s Community Grant Fund, £5,278 from the Parish 
Town Council Investment Fund (PTCIF) and £5,000 from the Rural 
Community Fund (RCF). The recommended awards can be met from within 
existing budget provision. 

Page 3

Agenda Item 1

mailto:emma.noyce@hants.gov.uk


5. Appendix 4 summarises Officer Decisions made since the last Decision Day. 

Contextual Information 

6. The purpose of the Leader’s Community Grant Fund is to fund projects which 
provide community benefit and help local communities thrive and/or to help 
local organisations become financially self-supporting and not reliant on 
public sector funding.   

7. The priority of the PTCIF is to support partnerships between Parish and Town 
Councils or local community groups and the County Council. It provides 
investments to schemes which respond to local needs and aims to reduce 
pressure on County Council Services.  

8. The Rural Communities Fund offers small grants to support Parish Councils, 
groups and organisations in rural Hampshire and small market towns. The 
overall priorities of the scheme are to build community resilience and 
encourage self-help.  

9. Full details of each of the grant streams can be found on the Council’s 
website https://www.hants.gov.uk/community/grants.  

10. Grant applications received since the last Decision Day on 22 January 2024 
for awards below £5,000 and/or any minor administrative changes to grants 
previously awarded, have been approved by the Corporate Director for 
Hampshire 2050, in consultation with the Leader and Executive Member for 
Hampshire 2050 and Corporate Services.  These are summarised in 
Appendix 4 for information. 

Finance 

11. The recommended awards can be met from within existing budget provision. 

Consultation and Equalities 

12. A high-level Equalities Impact Assessment has been undertaken. The grants 
are intended to have a positive impact and advance equality.  

13. The corporate terms and condition of grant require that any organisation in 
receipt of funding shall ensure that at all times it complies with the Equality 
Act 2010 if applicable and shall ensure that it does not discriminate against 
any person or persons on the basis of protected characteristics.  

Climate Change Impact Assessment 

14. Hampshire County Council utilises two decision-making tools to assess the 
carbon emissions and resilience of its projects and decisions. These tools 
provide a clear, robust, and transparent way of assessing how projects, 
policies and initiatives contribute towards the County Council’s climate 
change targets of being carbon neutral and resilient to the impacts of a 2℃ 
temperature rise by 2050. This process ensures that climate change 
considerations are built into everything the Authority does. 

Page 4

https://www.hants.gov.uk/community/grants


15. The carbon mitigation tool decision tree indicates it is not suitable for the 
assessment of a programme. The decisions in this report are financial 
decisions in relation to a programme of one-off grant opportunities. Therefore, 
the tool is not suitable for this Climate Change Impact Assessment and has 
not been used. 

Other Key Issues 

16. Legal Implications: Section 1 (1) of the Localism Act gives the County Council 
the power to do anything that individuals may generally do.  This includes the 
power to make grants. 

Page 5



REQUIRED CORPORATE AND LEGAL INFORMATION: 
 

Links to the Strategic Plan 
 
Hampshire maintains strong and sustainable economic 
growth and prosperity: 

no 

People in Hampshire live safe, healthy and independent 
lives: 

yes 

People in Hampshire enjoy a rich and diverse 
environment: 

yes 

People in Hampshire enjoy being part of strong, 
inclusive communities: 

yes 

 
Other Significant Links 

Links to previous Member decisions:  
Title Date 
The Leader’s Community Grant Fund – Revised Criteria 13 July 2023 

 
 
 
Section 100 D - Local Government Act 1972 - background documents 
  
The following documents discuss facts or matters on which this report, or an 
important part of it, is based and have been relied upon to a material extent in 
the preparation of this report. (NB: the list excludes published works and any 
documents which disclose exempt or confidential information as defined in 
the Act.) 
 
Document Location 
None  

 

Page 6

https://democracy.hants.gov.uk/documents/s109720/2023-07-13-LEMH2050%20The%20Leaders%20Community%20Grant%20Fund.pdf


EQUALITIES IMPACT ASSESSMENT: 
 

1. Equality Duty 
The County Council has a duty under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 
(‘the Act’) to have due regard in the exercise of its functions to the need to: 
- Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other 

conduct prohibited by or under the Act with regard to the protected 
characteristics as set out in section 4 of the Act (age, disability, gender 
reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, 
race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation); 

- Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (age, disability, 
gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex 
and sexual orientation) and those who do not share it; 

- Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (see above) and persons who 
do not share it.  

Due regard in this context involves having due regard in particular to: 
- The need to remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons 

sharing a relevant protected characteristic that are connected to that 
characteristic; 

- Take steps to meet the needs of persons sharing a relevant protected 
characteristic that are different from the needs of persons who do not share 
it; 

- Encourage persons sharing a relevant protected characteristic to 
participate in public life or in any other activity in which participation by such 
persons is disproportionally low. 

2. Equalities Impact Assessment: 
2.1. A high-level Equalities Impact Assessment has been undertaken. The grants 

are intended to have a positive impact and advance equality. 

 
  

Page 7



Appendix 1 

Applications to the Leader’s Community Grant Fund – 2023/24 
 

Organisation 
(District/Division) 

Proposal Amount 
Requested 

Amount 
Recommended 

The Historical Diving Society 
 (Gosport / Lee)  

£23,000 £15,500 

Application summary This project is for improvements to the access of No. 2 Battery, Stokes Bay plus its repair and conservation by addressing 
water penetration and damp issues to stabilise the fabric of the building, as Phase 1 of redevelopment plans for the 
Museum. 
 
The Diving Museum is owned and managed by the Historical Diving Society, with the principal aim of preserving the history 
of diving.  It is housed in No. 2 Battery, a Grade II* listed building built in the 1860s primarily to defend against a sea-borne 
attack. The building is on the ‘Heritage at Risk’ register and has significant damp issues, restricting use to one-third of the 
building.  A major aim since the Museum opened has been to improve the internal environment for the storage and display 
of the collection and provide better access for the public. Grants from Arts Council England and Historic England have 
been awarded to open the remaining two-thirds of No.2 Battery, ensuring that the museum is accessible and usable. 
Works include installing an air source heat pump to help manage humidity and water ingress, installing a ventilation system 
to control air movement within the building and repairing holes.  In addition, work will include restoring and conserving 
historic features throughout the building, such as the nuclear blast doors from the period the building was GBC’s Cold War 
nuclear bunker and install an external ramp at the entrance to the building and an internal platform lift, internal ramps to 
accommodate changes in floor levels and create an accessible emergency exit at the rear.   Once completed, it will enable 
the Museum to move forward to Phase 2, which will include submitting a bid to the National Lottery Heritage Fund.  

Reach Approx 10,000 people annually from visitors, organised groups/education visits and website traffic 
Total Project Costs 
 

Shortfall Match funding from other 
organisations sought 

Own funds committed HCC already 
committed 

£854,816 £23,000 £820,563 
(£15,500 from Gosport BC) 

£11,253 Nil 

Funding 

(Note previous funding awarded: 2020/21 - £1,000 from 2 x Councillor Grants for replacement boundary fencing.) 
Match scheme 
criteria 

Yes 

Local Member 
Comments 

Cllr Burgess supports the application. 

Recommendation/ 
conditions 

£15,500 

P
age 8



Appendix 1 

 
Organisation 
(District/Division) 

Proposal Amount 
Requested 

Amount 
Recommended 

Chawton House Library  
(East Hampshire / Alton Rural)  

£17,176 £3,400 

Application summary 2025 marks Jane Austen’s 250th Birthday at Chawton House. In the run up to this momentous year and building on the 
successful trials of outside events at Chawton House during Covid, they are planning to create and embed an annual calendar 
of community-focused events, activities, creative and garden workshops, so Chawton House is a place for local people to meet, 
volunteer and try something new. Their Business Plan indicates this build-up will result in them being self-sufficient and non-
reliant on grant funds from 2025 onwards. 
 
They wish to create a place for the community to come together, either as individuals, or in groups. ‘In reimagining Chawton 
House as a community-focused historic house and estate, championing historic and contemporary women’s writing and 
encouraging creative practice, we will engage audiences of all ages and backgrounds in the cultural and natural history of this 
place, whilst overseeing heritage and nature restoration of the whole site.’ 
 
The recommended grant award focusses on the additional external costs of hosting their planned calendar of events, and 
recognises the substantial contribution being made from their own funds, and their dedicated volunteers, providing the best 
opportunity for long-term sustainability, and further building on the increased visitor numbers seen in recent years. 
 
(£13,502 eligible costs of which £10,102 is already funded by East Hants District Council) 

Reach Will benefit approx. 3,000 residents 
Total Project Costs Shortfall Match funding from other 

organisations sought 
Own funds committed HCC already 

committed 
£64,095 £17,176 £15,232 (including £10,102 

from East Hants District 
Council) 

£31,687 £0 

Funding 

(Note previous funding awarded: Nil) 
Match scheme criteria Yes (for the eligible amount) 
Local Member 
Comments 

Cllr Kemp-Gee supports the application. 

Recommendation/ 
conditions 

£3,400 

 
 

P
age 9



Appendix 2 

Applications to the Parish Town Council Investment Fund (PTCIF) – 2023/24 
 

Organisation 
(District/Division) 

Proposal Amount 
Requested 

Amount 
Recommended 

Compton and Shawford Parish Council 
(Winchester / Downlands)   

£6,278 £5,278 

Application summary Compton & Shawford Parish Council own the parish hall in Shawford. The venue is incredibly popular and serves a wide 
variety of clubs and groups within the community.  
  
Following recent increases in energy bills, electricity costs have increased from 27p/kW to 58p/kW, resulting in an annual 
electricity cost of £10,945.  They are seeking to reduce these costs, whilst at the same time contributing to a more energy 
efficient facility.  They are applying for funding to install energy efficient LED lighting throughout the building and improve 
the roof insulation. The improvements are projected to support a reduction in energy consumption from 18,870 kW/hr to 
9,980 kW/hr annually, equalling a £4,944 reduction in energy bills. Their annual energy bills are still £1,800 more than 
they were prior to energy price rises. Compton & Shawford Parish Council can make £1000 available to support this 
project, if required. With support from the Climate Change Programme Team, this application is recommended for £5,278 
funding. 
  
Climate Change Programme Team comments: Hampshire County Council is striving to tackle climate change through two 
targets, to be carbon neutral by 2050 and resilient to a two-degree warming. The forecast annual tonnes of CO2 savings 
of 1.81 tCO2e will contribute to this target. 

Reach Will benefit approx. 2000 residents 
Total Project Costs Shortfall Match funding from other 

organisations sought 
Own funds committed HCC already 

committed 
£6278 £5278  £0 £1000 0 

Funding 

(Note previous funding awarded: £15,369 awarded in December 2022 via Compton and Shawford Parish Council for their 
energy efficiency project in Compton, a distance away from the Shawford Parish Hall. A max. of £30,000 is available to 
each applicant) 

Match scheme criteria Yes 
Local Member 
Comments 

Cllr Warwick is supportive of the grant award 

Recommendation/ 
conditions 

£5,278 

P
age 10



Appendix 3 
 

 
Applications to the Rural Community Fund (RCF) – 2023/24 
 

Organisation 
(District/Division) 

Proposal Amount 
Requested 

Amount 
Recommended 

New Forest Show 
(New Forest / Brockenhurst)   

£9,520 £5,000 

Application summary Grant availability of £15,000 has been made available via the Rural Communities Fund 2023/24 to specifically support 
rural country shows in Hampshire. 
 
The New Forest and Hampshire County Show is a three-day agricultural Show with a remit to educate Agriculture, 
Horticulture, Forestry and Equestrianism. The three-day Show is held in July and brings together both the local 
community and visitors to the area.  Funding for this application is intended to allow the Show to continue to hold an area 
dedicated to promoting the New Forest with a focus on:  
 

• Supporting local community groups 
• Educating visitors on the importance of the New Forest  
• Encouraging members to support the community  
• Holding traditional New Forest competitions  

  
The Show is based at New Park, Brockenhurst and is a real community event with the staff supported by over 490 
volunteers. It is packed with interactive, educational activities and attracts over 85,000 people each year. Visitors can 
enjoy a day packed with fun, education, shopping and animals.  Aligning with similar awards given to other country shows 
this year, and as with previous years, and it is recommended that £5000 is awarded. 

Reach Will benefit approx. 85,000 residents 
Total Project Costs Shortfall Match funding from other 

organisations sought 
Own funds committed HCC already 

committed 
£19,520 £9,520   £10,000 £0 

Funding 

(Note previous funding awarded: £5,000 awarded for a series of smaller shows in 2021 and prior years) 
Match scheme criteria Yes 
Local Member 
Comments 

Cllr Mans is aware of the award 

Recommendation/ 
conditions 

£5,000 

P
age 11



Appendix 4 

Summary of Officer Decisions Made since last decision day on 22 January 2024 
 
Grant Stream Organisation Project  Grant 

Approved 
Date Approved 

Parish & Town Council 
Investment Fund  

West End Parish Council Energy Efficiency Audit  £1495 20/12/2023 

Parish & Town Council 
Investment Fund 

Shalden Village Hall Energy Efficiency Audit  £1794 29/12/2023 

Rural Community Fund Martin Community Shop CIC Shop relocation £575 17/01/2024 
 
 
 
Organisation  Project   Grant Approved  Date Approved  Administrative 

Change 
Date Change 
Approved 

Broadlands Group 
Riding for the 
Disabled, 
Medstead 

Supporting 
countryside access 
for adults with 
disabilities and 
dementia 

Up to 41.15% of 
total project costs, 
to a maximum of 
£14,000 

22 June 2022 Extension of time 
period to claim the 
grant 

5/3/2024 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 12



 

1 

HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Executive Decision Record 
 

Decision Maker:  Leader and Executive Member for Hampshire 2050 and 
Corporate Services 

Date of Decision: 14 March 2024 

Decision Title:  Appointment to Outside Bodies, Statutory Joint Committees, 
Panels and Partnership Boards 

Report From:  Director of People and Organisation 

Contact name: Louise Barker  

  Email: louise.barker2@hants.gov.uk 
  
1. The Decision (PROPOSED):  
 
In accordance with Part 1: Chapter 12 of the Constitution, that the Leader and 
Executive Member for Hampshire 2050 and Corporate Services be requested to 
make an appointment to the Partnership as detailed below.  The term of office to be 
until County Council elections in May 2025 unless otherwise stated: 
 
 

Name of Body 
Description Current 

Representative 
Proposed 
Appointment 
 

Strategic Aviation 
Special Interest 
Group 
(1) 

A forum for Local 
Authorities and other 
regional representatives 
to come together to 
share information and 
resources on regional 
aviation issues. 
 

Councillor Rod 
Cooper 

Councillor Roz 
Chadd 
 
(Until withdrawal of 
the County Council 
in January 2025) 

 
2. Reason for the decision: 
 
2.1. To maintain County Council representation on bodies within the community.  
 
3. Other options considered and rejected: 
 
3.1. Not to make appointments, which would cease County Council representation.  
 
4. Conflicts of interest: 
 
4.1. Conflicts of interest declared by the decision-maker: None 
 
4.2. Conflicts of interest declared by other Executive Members consulted:  

Page 13

Agenda Item 2

mailto:louise.barker@hants.gov.uk


 

2 

 
5. Dispensation granted by the Conduct Advisory Panel: none.  
 
6. Reason(s) for the matter being dealt with if urgent: not applicable. 
 
7. Statement from the Decision Maker:  
 
 
 
Approved by:  
 
 
 
--------------------------------------------------                Date: 14 March 2024 
Councillor Rob Humby 
Leader and Executive Member for Hampshire 2050 
and Corporate Services 

 

  

Page 14



HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Decision Report 
 
Decision Maker 
 

Leader and Executive Member for Hampshire 2050 and 
Corporate Services 

Date: 14 March 2024 

Title: Corporate Office Accommodation Strategy 

Report From: Director of Hampshire 2050 and Assistant Chief Executive 

Contact name: Tim Martienssen and Rebecca Thompson 

Email: tim.martienssen@hants.gov.uk; rebecca.thompson@hants.gov.uk 

Purpose of this Report 

1. The purpose of this report is to seek agreement to proposals for the strategic 
reduction of Hampshire County Council’s office accommodation and 
associated facilities across wider Hampshire. This will address the 
underutilisation of assets resulting from changes in ways of working and 
reduce the annual revenue costs and future liabilities arising from the County 
Council’s estate. 

Recommendations 

2. That the Leader and Executive Member for Hampshire 2050 and Corporate 
Services approves the proposed medium term strategy to consolidate the use 
of office accommodation across wider Hampshire and to make more flexible 
use of retained assets across multiple service areas as set out in paragraphs 
57 to 62 of this report and supported by the information provided in the 
exempt  appendices. 

3. That the Director of Hampshire 2050 and Assistant Chief Executive, in 
consultation with the Leader and Executive Member for Hampshire 2050 and 
Corporate Services or, in their absence, the Deputy Leader, and the Director 
of Corporate Operations, is authorised to confirm the individual assets within 
the scope of the review that are surplus to the County Council’s future 
requirements and approve their release, subject to an appropriate business 
case confirming the proposals for relocation of staff and services.  

4. That the Director of Hampshire 2050 and Assistant Chief Executive, in 
consultation with the Leader and Executive Member for Hampshire 2050 and 
Corporate Services or, in their absence, the Deputy Leader, and the Director 

Page 15

Agenda Item 3

mailto:rebecca.thompson@hants.gov.uk


of Corporate Operations, is authorised to determine the most appropriate 
disposal strategy for freehold assets identified as surplus to the County 
Council’s future requirements, supported by a suitable options appraisal, and 
to commence the process for disposal of these sites at the appropriate time. 

5. That the Director of Hampshire 2050 and Assistant Chief Executive, in 
consultation with the Leader and Executive Member for Hampshire 2050 and 
Corporate Services or, in their absence, the Deputy Leader, and the Director 
of Corporate Operations, is authorised to accept offers for surplus freehold 
assets, where these can be evidenced to be in line with market values. 

6. The Director of Hampshire 2050 and Assistant Chief Executive, in 
consultation with the Leader and Executive Member for Hampshire 2050 and 
Corporate Services or, in their absence, the Deputy Leader, and the Director 
of Corporate Operations, is authorised to surrender any leases and/or take 
any other action reasonably necessary for the implementation of the agreed 
strategy. 

Executive Summary  

7. This report sets out the details of a review undertaken on the future 
requirement for County Council office accommodation and associated 
facilities across wider Hampshire.  The key themes and principles identified 
through the review informed the development of four strategic options for the 
optimisation of assets providing office accommodation across the county. 
This report identifies the recommended strategic option that best meets the 
financial, strategic, and operational priorities of the organisation. 

8. A review of the County Council’s Winchester office accommodation was 
undertaken in summer and autumn 2022.  A decision was taken by the 
Leader and Executive Member for Hampshire 2050 on 9 March 2023 to 
implement a strategic approach to rationalising the office accommodation to 
address the low utilisation levels arising from changes to working practices 
following the Covid-19 pandemic and secure revenue cost savings alongside 
a financial return from the disposal of surplus freehold assets, in line with the 
County Council’s Strategic Asset Management Plan (SAMP).  The decision 
included delegated authority to the Director of Hampshire 2050 to implement 
the agreed strategy in consultation with the Leader and Executive Member for 
Hampshire 2050 and Corporate Services.  

9. In the summer of 2023 a further review was undertaken to identify and 
evaluate a number of strategic options for the reduction of the County 
Council’s office accommodation and associated facilities across wider 
Hampshire, to address the low utilisation levels of these assets.  

Page 16



10. The options considered have interdependencies with current and future 
operational and service delivery models, recognising that service delivery 
models will continue to change into the future and the County Council must 
continue to demonstrate that assets are utilised effectively to deliver 
measurable value and returns on a business case basis. 

11. The recommended option identified in the report provides a medium term 
strategic approach to consolidating office accommodation across wider 
Hampshire that will result in the County Council exiting from a number of 
assets that are identified as surplus to its current and future needs. The 
release of assets will be achieved through a combination of ending lease 
arrangements within some buildings owned by third parties and disposal of 
some assets where the County Council owns the freehold, once proposals for 
relocation of staff and services are confirmed. 

12. Where the County Council owns the freehold of surplus assets, the report 
identifies that each asset will be subject to a detailed evaluation of the options 
for disposal.  It is recommended that further decisions on disposal of surplus 
assets are delegated to the Director of Hampshire 2050 and Assistant Chief 
Executive in consultation with the Leader and Executive Member for 
Hampshire 2050 and Corporate Services, or Deputy Leader, and the Director 
of Corporate Operations.  

Context 

13. Prior to the Covid-19 pandemic, the strategy for the County Council’s 
corporate office accommodation was to seek to make the most efficient use of 
the available accommodation through consolidation and increased utilisation 
of space by County Council staff and services and to address any surplus 
capacity through release of whole buildings or letting of surplus 
accommodation within occupied buildings. 

14. Recognising the significant change in ways of working driven by the Covid-19 
pandemic, the opportunity was taken in 2020/21 to reduce the scale of 
corporate office accommodation through the release of Hampshire House in 
Eastleigh and Fareham Reach and Fareham Borough Council offices in 
Fareham, which were occupied under lease arrangements.  

15. With formal hybrid working arrangements established across the organisation 
in early 2022, data captured through the second half of the year confirmed 
that utilisation of the County Council’s retained office accommodation 
continues to be lower than prior to the pandemic.  To address the surplus 
capacity, a review of opportunities to further reduce the office portfolio has 
been undertaken, with the initial focus on the offices in the Winchester area.  
A strategy for rationalising office accommodation in Winchester was approved 
by the Leader and Executive Member for Hampshire 2050 and Corporate 

Page 17



Services in March 2023.  The approved strategy identified a number of 
surplus assets for disposal including Capital House, which has now been 
sold.  

16. In parallel with the review, the County Council’s Strategic Asset Management 
Plan (SAMP) for the period 2023 to 2028 was developed and approved by 
Cabinet in December 2022.  The SAMP provides a strategic framework for 
the management of the County Council’s land and property assets and, 
recognising the change in working practices, includes a specific strategic 
action to “rationalise and reduce the overall size of the County Council’s built 
estate starting with office accommodation”. 

17. In the summer of 2023, a further review was undertaken of the County 
Council’s office accommodation and associated facilities across wider 
Hampshire.  

18. This second review incorporated main area office hubs and ancillary sites, 
library buildings, register offices, former children’s centre buildings and 
corporate storage across the county.  These are all assets currently 
functioning as office accommodation or that have the potential to 
accommodate staff and services currently located in office buildings.  The 
review considered the context of broader business needs, key adjacencies, 
potential changes to ways of working, and the rationalisation of business 
operations. 

19. The review has identified consolidation and rationalisation opportunities for 
the County Council’s office accommodation, achieving a reduction in the total 
number of assets through co-location of services, new ways of working and 
increased utilisation of retained assets. 

20. Potential annual revenue savings of £1.8m, identified from early 
rationalisation opportunities within both the Winchester and wider Hampshire 
office accommodation strategies, are incorporated in the Savings Programme 
to 2025 (SP25) proposals approved by the County Council at its meeting on 9 
November 2023. 

21. Assets within the wider Hampshire review are used in diverse ways to support 
teams delivering area-based services, in particular services for children and 
adults. The review involved engagement with both Adults’ Heath and Care 
and Children’s Services directorates to consider future operating models for 
area-based teams and services. 

22. A key principle of new ways of working will see buildings utilised in a more 
holistic and one-organisational way, providing opportunities for a range of 
teams to utilise the space and assets.  A good, early example of this has 
been the use of Lymington Library where teams from both Adults’ Health and 

Page 18



Care and Children’s Services relocated from a larger underutilised building 
and now deliver their work in the heart of the community. 

23. Children’s Services are moving towards Family Help and Community Hub 
models involving greater collaboration between services and presence in the 
local community with possible use of partner assets to deliver activities and 
services.  Adults’ Health and Care teams currently work on a locality model 
visiting customers at residential locations with lower reliance on Front of 
House provision within County Council occupied buildings. 

24. In line with the SAMP the review has also considered links to district council 
offices and town centre regeneration schemes. 

Scope of the Review 

25. The review focused on County Council assets currently used primarily as 
office accommodation and meeting space for County Council employees and 
for delivery of a range of customer and public facing services.  This includes 
accommodation the County Council occupies under lease arrangements in 
several district council offices.  The review also included assets with the 
potential to provide these requirements in the future, such as larger Library 
buildings with surplus capacity.   There is a mixture of freehold and leasehold 
accommodation across the portfolio. 

26. Other operational buildings where office accommodation is not a main use or 
where there is little opportunity to provide significant office accommodation, 
such as schools and nursing homes, were excluded from the scope of this 
review due to the specialist nature of the accommodation they provide. 

Methodology 

27. Analysis has been undertaken to determine the property baseline in relation 
to space, cost, utilisation, sustainability, asset condition and geographic 
distribution of staff and service users.  Engagement sessions were held with 
leadership teams across each directorate to gather qualitative information 
including current and future service strategy, priorities, asset usage, 
employee and customer experience and operational considerations.  The 
quantitative and qualitative information was gathered into a single data pack. 
The key themes and principles identified through the review work have 
informed the development of strategic options for the optimisation of the area 
assets.  A dynamic model has been designed to underpin the study and can 
continue to be used to refine the strategic options. 

28. Market valuations were undertaken both by the County Council’s in-house 
Estates Management team and by Mace through online desktop research. 

Page 19



Vail Williams Property Consultancy then sense checked these valuation 
figures.  These valuations were used to inform the financial assessment of the 
strategic options but will be subject to further market review and testing at the 
point of disposal of any individual asset.  

29. Four options for the strategic approach to addressing the under-utilisation and 
cost liabilities of the area office accommodation assets were identified and 
evaluated against cost saving over 10 years, operational fit, future liability, 
business continuity and development / commercial opportunities. Further 
information is contained in the exempt appendices. 

 

Option Description Key issues  

Option 1 - Do 
Nothing.  

No changes to existing 
assets.  

No disruption to service 
delivery. Increasing asset 
liabilities, number of 
properties are no longer fit for 
purpose, underutilised space. 

Option 2 - Do 
Minimum.   

Reduce leased space where 
feasible with minimum 
service impact. Let surplus 
space where possible.  

Increasing asset liabilities, 
number of properties are no 
longer fit for purpose, 
underutilised space. Some 
localised service disruption. 
Disposal of any already 
vacated buildings.   

Option 3 – 
Consolidation and 
more flexible use 
of retained assets.  

Significant reduction in total 
number of assets. Move 
administrative teams to local 
hubs or to Winchester. 
Increase use of Library 
buildings to provide more 
public facing services and 
drop in space for area 
based staff.  

Reliant on directorates 
implementing new models of 
service delivery. Reduction in 
asset liabilities with the 
opportunity to deliver over the 
medium term to minimise 
cost and service disruption. 

Option 4 – regional 
hubs 

Reduce provision to 5 
regional hubs: Northwest, 
Southwest, Southeast, 
Northeast and Central. 

Maintains a strong local 
presence. Time to deliver and 
cost is hard to predict at this 
stage and a high level of new 
investment would be required 
to secure appropriate assets. 

 

Page 20



Key findings 

Capacity, utilisation and demand assessment 

30. Analysis has been undertaken in relation to space, cost, utilisation, 
sustainability, asset condition and geographic distribution of service user 
groups and County Council employees.  

31. The highest levels of Childrens Services’ service user need are found in 
urban areas, particularly in the southeast. For Adults’ Health and Care 
services the southwest and north-central regions represent the highest areas 
of need.  

32. Front of House (direct customer facing activities) provision is critical for 
hosting some children’s services and functions such as Registration services 
and Library services.  

33. The total number of County Council employees based at the buildings within 
the scope of the review is circa 2,000.  The review found that average desk 
utilisation across the assets in the review was 30% with the busiest peak 
utilisation reaching 50%.  

34. Annual expenditure on property costs (rent, rates, utilities) across the assets 
in the review is £3.3million net of rental income; £3.7million gross.  Business 
rates account for 36% of expenditure.  Ten assets account for 70% of the 
total property costs for the assets within the review. 

35. Several assets are in poor condition and require significant investment to 
maintain them in a fit for purpose state.  While further work is required to 
confirm condition and future liability, a possible £7.5 million in condition 
liabilities over the next 10 years has been identified alongside a likely 
increase in reactive maintenance costs. 

36. Comparing future demand with potential capacity under Option 3 
(consolidation and more flexible use of retained assets) indicates that there 
would be sufficient capacity to accommodate anticipated demand based on 
the current model of utilisation and with changes to the operating models of 
local service delivery teams.  

Market assessment 

37. The total potential capital receipt from all disposable sites considered in the 
area review is estimated at £7.6m.  Within each option, the capital receipt 
assumes an outright sale of surplus freehold assets. Valuations are estimates 

Page 21



using both internal and external sources.  The disposal figures are estimates 
at this stage.   

38. A quarter of the assets within the review are leased and therefore cannot 
provide a capital receipt.  There are several properties that form part of a 
larger site and as a result would be difficult to dispose of outright.  This review 
did not consider closure or relocation of any Libraries and therefore the 
Library buildings are considered as retained in all the options.   

39. Where freehold assets are identified for disposal, planning appraisals and 
Title reviews will be required to inform detailed valuations and a per asset 
disposal strategy.  An assessment of individual assets will be undertaken 
between unconditional sale (where the purchaser assumes any planning risk) 
which generally yield lower figures and ‘subject to planning’ sale which should 
maximise value but requires a longer timescale to complete the disposal 
process.  

40. Uncertain market conditions have led to a decrease in transactions for office 
accommodation, which are significantly down in the south and southeast 
compared to last year.  The impact of environmental, social, governance 
(ESG) and Minimum Energy Efficiency Standard (MEES) requirements, the 
quality of office space on offer and access to available funding (if required), 
have all led to office values dropping to their lowest levels since the global 
financial crisis of 2008.  However, where there is reasonable opportunity to 
secure planning consent for conversion or redevelopment to residential uses, 
the market is still positive.  

41. The opportunities for disposal of freehold assets are spread across the county 
and therefore are unlikely to impact each other.  However local market 
conditions will need to be considered as part of the disposal strategy for 
individual assets.  

Cost of Change 

42. The capital costs for investment intervention to ensure any remaining 
buildings are fit for purpose have been calculated on per metre square rates 
using BCIS indices uplifted to Q1 2025.  These are high level assumptions for 
the purpose of consistent comparison of the strategic options at this stage. 
Detailed due diligence and analysis of individual assets will be required to 
confirm the brief and scope of works for each site. Further information is 
contained within the exempt appendices.  

 

 

Page 22



Review Conclusions  

43. Considering the capacity, operational, market and financial assessments 
described above, the strategic direction identified under Option 3, to 
consolidate the use of office accommodation and to make more flexible use of 
retained assets across multiple service areas, scores highest against the 
criteria of cost savings, operational fit, reduction in future liabilities and 
development opportunities.  This option is dependent on directorates 
implementing their new service delivery models and potentially increases 
business continuity risks as changes are implemented.  This latter issue is 
minimised by the organisation’s ability to work more flexibly and remotely, as 
demonstrated over the past few years. 

44. Option 3 provides the opportunity to realising annual revenue savings and 
other financial benefits, implemented over the medium term to enable 
effective management of operational and market risks.   

45. Neither Option 1 or 2 deliver sufficient benefits in terms of provision of fit for 
purpose space, corporate savings and avoidance of future liabilities to 
address the County Council’s current priorities.  These options would also 
miss the opportunity to consolidate employees and services within fewer 
assets, provide an improved customer journey and enhanced opportunities 
for staff collaboration  

46. Option 4, while also offering a consolidated workplace model, requires 
significant up front capital investment with greater cost risk and lower savings 
than Option 3.  It reduces the impact on existing Library buildings but does 
not offer the opportunity to exploit the potential of the larger library buildings 
as both operational centres and community hubs. 

47. Further information on the detailed options appraisal is contained within the 
exempt appendices. 

Consultation and Equalities 

48. Relevant senior officers across the organisation have provided input to the 
review in relation to their services’ needs and utilisation of office 
accommodation.  The Corporate Management Team has been engaged 
throughout the review.  No public consultation was undertaken as part of the 
review as this will be carried out, where required, on an individual asset basis.   

49. The location, parking provision, public transport links and accessibility of the 
buildings have been considered as part of the review. 

Page 23



50. This paper sets out a strategic approach for change. Given both the variation 
of assets under consideration and the range of options on the future location 
of staff and services, each relocation project will be subject to its own detailed 
equality impact assessments.  These will be undertaken as part of the next 
phase of the programme where appropriate engagement and consultation 
with staff, trade unions, service users and partners will be undertaken in line 
with relevant corporate policies and statutory requirements.  A timeline of 
activity and communication plan will be developed to support this process, 
and further detail is contained within the exempt appendices.  

Climate Change Impact Assessment 

51. Hampshire County Council utilises two decision-making tools to assess the 
carbon emissions and resilience impacts of its projects and decisions.  These 
tools provide a clear, robust, and transparent way of assessing how projects, 
policies and initiatives contribute towards the County Council’s climate 
change targets of being carbon neutral and resilient to the impacts of a 2℃ 
temperature rise by 2050. This process ensures that climate change 
considerations are built into everything the Authority does. 

52. The carbon mitigation tool and climate adaptation tools employed by the 
County Council were considered and deemed not applicable on this occasion 
because the decision relates to a strategy rather than a specific project or 
programme of work. 

53. A decarbonisation assessment was undertaken comparing energy use by 
area and using CIBSE energy benchmarks where gas/electricity data was 
missing.  Emissions were calculated using Defra carbon factors.  Increased 
occupancy was included in the calculations.  Potential carbon savings for 
each option were calculated based on an assumed outcome for each asset.  

54. Energy performance certificate ratings were used where available. Of the  
available EPC ratings, 10 are D or below. These would require future 
investment to bring them up to an acceptable level. 

55. Potential carbon savings to the County Council for each option are identified 
below: 

• Option 1 – Do nothing. Saves 0 tonnes of CO2e 

• Option 2 – Do Minimum. Saves 0 tonnes of CO2e 

• Option 3 – Consolidation. Saves up to 3,140 tonnes of CO2e 

• Option 4 – Area Hubs. Saves up to 2,950 tonnes of CO2e 

Page 24



56. Release of surplus assets under either Option 3 or 4 will reduce the County 
Council’s overall energy use and operational carbon emissions as well as 
future liabilities associated with adapting buildings to achieve carbon net zero. 

57. Several measures have already been undertaken to improve the energy 
efficiency of the County Council’s office buildings, including the installation of 
sensor-controlled LED lighting and improved heating controls in a number of 
buildings.  Opportunities to further improve the energy efficiency of retained 
buildings will continue to be explored, in line with the climate change strategy 
for the built estate which forms part of the wider portfolio of strategies and 
policies that come under the umbrella of the SAMP.  

Recommended approach 

58. In line with Option 3, consolidation and more flexible use of retained assets, it 
is proposed to adopt a strategic approach to the rationalisation of the County 
Council’s office accommodation that maximises the use of strategic assets in 
key locations, including Tier 1 Libraries across the County. This approach 
reflects strategic decision making for the medium term. 

59. The first step in delivering Option 3 will be to prioritise assets that can be 
released within the SP25 timescale, either by ending a lease or selling the 
building.  It is anticipated that further consolidation of the assets, in line with 
the identified strategic option, would be implemented over the medium term 
period. 

60. A programme plan will be developed to support the effective delivery of the 
rationalisation work and minimise service disruption and abortive investment.  
Work with directorates to make the necessary changes to enable 
implementation of the strategy will continue throughout the programme. 

61. The disposal options for surplus freehold assets will be evaluated to 
determine the most appropriate approach that balances the financial return 
with the cost, risk, and timescale to realise the return.  Where there is a clear 
benefit to doing so, planning consent for alternative use will be sought prior to 
the disposal of freehold assets. 

62. Achieving disposal outcomes will be subject to market conditions.  
Acceptance of any offer will be subject to confirmation that it is in line with 
market values and best value considerations as required under s123(2) of the 
Local Government Act 1972. 

63. In order to facilitate timely and efficient disposals, achieving best value for the 
County Council, it is proposed that authority is delegated to the Director of 
Hampshire 2050 and Assistant Chief Executive, in consultation with the 

Page 25



Leader and Executive Member for Hampshire 2050 and Corporate Services 
or, in their absence, the Deputy Leader, together with the Director of 
Corporate Operations, to confirm the individual assets that are surplus to the 
County Council’s requirements, determine the most appropriate disposal 
strategy for each of these assets and commence the process for disposal at 
the appropriate time.  In all cases delegated decisions will be supported by a 
suitable options appraisal and business case. 

Conclusion 

64. Hampshire County Council’s Strategic Asset Management Plan (SAMP) sets 
out a vision for the County Council’s estate, including that:  

• County Council property is planned and managed as a corporate resource 
for the people of Hampshire. 

•  the size of the estate is reduced to fit what we need.  

• optimal financial return and commercial opportunities from the 
rationalisation and disposal of surplus land and buildings is achieved. 

65. This report recommends a strategic approach that seeks to consolidate the 
use of corporate office accommodation across wider Hampshire, making 
more flexible use of retained assets across multiple service areas and 
enabling the release of a number of older and less suitable assets to realise 
ongoing revenue savings and capital receipts. 

66. This approach represents a considered decision making providing a medium 
term strategy that is aligned to the SAMP and the County Council’s “Serving 
Hampshire - Strategic Plan 2021 to 2025”, to target its resources to continue 
to support the most vulnerable residents in Hampshire, whilst building 
healthy, resilient, and prosperous communities for years to come. 

 

Page 26



 

REQUIRED CORPORATE AND LEGAL INFORMATION: 
 

Links to the Strategic Plan 
 
Hampshire maintains strong and sustainable economic 
growth and prosperity: 

yes 

People in Hampshire live safe, healthy and independent 
lives: 

yes 

People in Hampshire enjoy a rich and diverse 
environment: 

yes 

People in Hampshire enjoy being part of strong, 
inclusive communities: 

yes 

 
 

Other Significant Links 
Links to previous Member decisions:  
Title Date 
Strategic Asset Management Plan 2023 to 2028 
Corporate Office Accommodation Strategy 

13/12/2022 
09/03/2023 

  
Direct links to specific legislation or Government Directives   
Title Date 
  
  

 
 
 
Section 100 D - Local Government Act 1972 - background documents 
  
The following documents discuss facts or matters on which this report, or an 
important part of it, is based and have been relied upon to a material extent in 
the preparation of this report. (NB: the list excludes published works and any 
documents which disclose exempt or confidential information as defined in 
the Act.) 
 
Document Location 
None  

 
  

Page 27

https://democracy.hants.gov.uk/documents/s102989/2022-12-13%20Strategic%20Asset%20Management%20Plan.pdf
https://democracy.hants.gov.uk/documents/s106348/Decision%20Record.pdf


 

EQUALITIES IMPACT ASSESSMENT: 
 

1. Equality Duty 
The County Council has a duty under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 
(‘the Act’) to have due regard in the exercise of its functions to the need to: 
- Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other 

conduct prohibited by or under the Act with regard to the protected 
characteristics as set out in section 4 of the Act (age, disability, gender 
reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, 
race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation); 

- Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (age, disability, 
gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex 
and sexual orientation) and those who do not share it; 

- Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (see above) and persons who 
do not share it.  

Due regard in this context involves having due regard in particular to: 
- The need to remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons 

sharing a relevant protected characteristic that are connected to that 
characteristic; 

- Take steps to meet the needs of persons sharing a relevant protected 
characteristic that are different from the needs of persons who do not share 
it; 

- Encourage persons sharing a relevant protected characteristic to 
participate in public life or in any other activity in which participation by such 
persons is disproportionally low. 

2. Equalities Impact Assessment: 
No equality impacts have been identified arising from this report.  A full 
equality impact assessment will be completed as part of the implementation 
phase of the programme. 

 
 

Page 28



Document is Restricted

Page 29

Agenda Item 4
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Awards from Community Grant Schemes
	HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL
	Decision Report
	Purpose of this Report
	1.	The report considers two applications for grants from the Leader’s Community Grant Fund, one application from the Parish Town Council Investment Fund (PTCIF) and one application from the Rural Community Fund (RCF) for 2023/24.
	Recommendation
	2.	That the Leader and Executive Member for Hampshire 2050 and Corporate Services approves:
	a)	Two grants totalling £18,900 from the Leader’s Community Grant Fund 2023/24 to cultural and community organisations in Hampshire, as set out in Appendix 1.
	b)	One grant totalling £5,278 from the Parish and Town Council Investment Fund, as set out in Appendix 2.
	c)	One grant totalling £5,000 from the Rural Community Fund, as set out in Appendix 3.

	Executive Summary
	3.	Two organisations have applied for a grant through the Leader’s Community Grant Fund totalling £40,176, one organisation has applied for a grant from the Parish Town Council Investment Fund (PTCIF) totalling £5,278 and one organisation has applied for a grant from the Rural Community Fund (RCF) totalling £5,000, for 2023/24.
	4.	The report considers the applications and recommends the awards totalling £18,900 from the Leader’s Community Grant Fund, £5,278 from the Parish Town Council Investment Fund (PTCIF) and £5,000 from the Rural Community Fund (RCF). The recommended awards can be met from within existing budget provision.
	5.	Appendix 4 summarises Officer Decisions made since the last Decision Day.
	Contextual Information
	6.	The purpose of the Leader’s Community Grant Fund is to fund projects which provide community benefit and help local communities thrive and/or to help local organisations become financially self-supporting and not reliant on public sector funding.
	7.	The priority of the PTCIF is to support partnerships between Parish and Town Councils or local community groups and the County Council. It provides investments to schemes which respond to local needs and aims to reduce pressure on County Council Services.
	8.	The Rural Communities Fund offers small grants to support Parish Councils, groups and organisations in rural Hampshire and small market towns. The overall priorities of the scheme are to build community resilience and encourage self-help.
	9.	Full details of each of the grant streams can be found on the Council’s website https://www.hants.gov.uk/community/grants.
	10.	Grant applications received since the last Decision Day on 22 January 2024 for awards below £5,000 and/or any minor administrative changes to grants previously awarded, have been approved by the Corporate Director for Hampshire 2050, in consultation with the Leader and Executive Member for Hampshire 2050 and Corporate Services.  These are summarised in Appendix 4 for information.
	Finance
	11.	The recommended awards can be met from within existing budget provision.
	Consultation and Equalities
	12.	A high-level Equalities Impact Assessment has been undertaken. The grants are intended to have a positive impact and advance equality.
	13.	The corporate terms and condition of grant require that any organisation in receipt of funding shall ensure that at all times it complies with the Equality Act 2010 if applicable and shall ensure that it does not discriminate against any person or persons on the basis of protected characteristics.
	Climate Change Impact Assessment
	14.	Hampshire County Council utilises two decision-making tools to assess the carbon emissions and resilience of its projects and decisions. These tools provide a clear, robust, and transparent way of assessing how projects, policies and initiatives contribute towards the County Council’s climate change targets of being carbon neutral and resilient to the impacts of a 2℃ temperature rise by 2050. This process ensures that climate change considerations are built into everything the Authority does.
	15.	The carbon mitigation tool decision tree indicates it is not suitable for the assessment of a programme. The decisions in this report are financial decisions in relation to a programme of one-off grant opportunities. Therefore, the tool is not suitable for this Climate Change Impact Assessment and has not been used.
	Other Key Issues
	16.	Legal Implications: Section 1 (1) of the Localism Act gives the County Council the power to do anything that individuals may generally do.  This includes the power to make grants.

	REQUIRED CORPORATE AND LEGAL INFORMATION:
	Links to the Strategic Plan
	Other Significant Links
	EQUALITIES IMPACT ASSESSMENT:
	1.	Equality Duty
	The County Council has a duty under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 (‘the Act’) to have due regard in the exercise of its functions to the need to:
	-	Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other conduct prohibited by or under the Act with regard to the protected characteristics as set out in section 4 of the Act (age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation);
	-	Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation) and those who do not share it;
	-	Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (see above) and persons who do not share it.
	Due regard in this context involves having due regard in particular to:
	-	The need to remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons sharing a relevant protected characteristic that are connected to that characteristic;
	-	Take steps to meet the needs of persons sharing a relevant protected characteristic that are different from the needs of persons who do not share it;
	-	Encourage persons sharing a relevant protected characteristic to participate in public life or in any other activity in which participation by such persons is disproportionally low.

	2.	Equalities Impact Assessment:
	2.1.	A high-level Equalities Impact Assessment has been undertaken. The grants are intended to have a positive impact and advance equality.



	2 Appointment to Outside Bodies, Statutory Joint Committees, Panels and Partnership Boards
	3 Corporate Office Accommodation Strategy - Less Exempt Appendices
	HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL
	Decision Report
	Purpose of this Report
	1.	The purpose of this report is to seek agreement to proposals for the strategic reduction of Hampshire County Council’s office accommodation and associated facilities across wider Hampshire. This will address the underutilisation of assets resulting from changes in ways of working and reduce the annual revenue costs and future liabilities arising from the County Council’s estate.
	Recommendations
	2.	That the Leader and Executive Member for Hampshire 2050 and Corporate Services approves the proposed medium term strategy to consolidate the use of office accommodation across wider Hampshire and to make more flexible use of retained assets across multiple service areas as set out in paragraphs 57 to 62 of this report and supported by the information provided in the exempt  appendices.
	3.	That the Director of Hampshire 2050 and Assistant Chief Executive, in consultation with the Leader and Executive Member for Hampshire 2050 and Corporate Services or, in their absence, the Deputy Leader, and the Director of Corporate Operations, is authorised to confirm the individual assets within the scope of the review that are surplus to the County Council’s future requirements and approve their release, subject to an appropriate business case confirming the proposals for relocation of staff and services.
	4.	That the Director of Hampshire 2050 and Assistant Chief Executive, in consultation with the Leader and Executive Member for Hampshire 2050 and Corporate Services or, in their absence, the Deputy Leader, and the Director of Corporate Operations, is authorised to determine the most appropriate disposal strategy for freehold assets identified as surplus to the County Council’s future requirements, supported by a suitable options appraisal, and to commence the process for disposal of these sites at the appropriate time.
	5.	That the Director of Hampshire 2050 and Assistant Chief Executive, in consultation with the Leader and Executive Member for Hampshire 2050 and Corporate Services or, in their absence, the Deputy Leader, and the Director of Corporate Operations, is authorised to accept offers for surplus freehold assets, where these can be evidenced to be in line with market values.
	6.	The Director of Hampshire 2050 and Assistant Chief Executive, in consultation with the Leader and Executive Member for Hampshire 2050 and Corporate Services or, in their absence, the Deputy Leader, and the Director of Corporate Operations, is authorised to surrender any leases and/or take any other action reasonably necessary for the implementation of the agreed strategy.
	Executive Summary
	7.	This report sets out the details of a review undertaken on the future requirement for County Council office accommodation and associated facilities across wider Hampshire.  The key themes and principles identified through the review informed the development of four strategic options for the optimisation of assets providing office accommodation across the county. This report identifies the recommended strategic option that best meets the financial, strategic, and operational priorities of the organisation.
	8.	A review of the County Council’s Winchester office accommodation was undertaken in summer and autumn 2022.  A decision was taken by the Leader and Executive Member for Hampshire 2050 on 9 March 2023 to implement a strategic approach to rationalising the office accommodation to address the low utilisation levels arising from changes to working practices following the Covid-19 pandemic and secure revenue cost savings alongside a financial return from the disposal of surplus freehold assets, in line with the County Council’s Strategic Asset Management Plan (SAMP).  The decision included delegated authority to the Director of Hampshire 2050 to implement the agreed strategy in consultation with the Leader and Executive Member for Hampshire 2050 and Corporate Services.
	9.	In the summer of 2023 a further review was undertaken to identify and evaluate a number of strategic options for the reduction of the County Council’s office accommodation and associated facilities across wider Hampshire, to address the low utilisation levels of these assets.
	10.	The options considered have interdependencies with current and future operational and service delivery models, recognising that service delivery models will continue to change into the future and the County Council must continue to demonstrate that assets are utilised effectively to deliver measurable value and returns on a business case basis.
	11.	The recommended option identified in the report provides a medium term strategic approach to consolidating office accommodation across wider Hampshire that will result in the County Council exiting from a number of assets that are identified as surplus to its current and future needs. The release of assets will be achieved through a combination of ending lease arrangements within some buildings owned by third parties and disposal of some assets where the County Council owns the freehold, once proposals for relocation of staff and services are confirmed.
	12.	Where the County Council owns the freehold of surplus assets, the report identifies that each asset will be subject to a detailed evaluation of the options for disposal.  It is recommended that further decisions on disposal of surplus assets are delegated to the Director of Hampshire 2050 and Assistant Chief Executive in consultation with the Leader and Executive Member for Hampshire 2050 and Corporate Services, or Deputy Leader, and the Director of Corporate Operations.
	Context
	13.	Prior to the Covid-19 pandemic, the strategy for the County Council’s corporate office accommodation was to seek to make the most efficient use of the available accommodation through consolidation and increased utilisation of space by County Council staff and services and to address any surplus capacity through release of whole buildings or letting of surplus accommodation within occupied buildings.
	14.	Recognising the significant change in ways of working driven by the Covid-19 pandemic, the opportunity was taken in 2020/21 to reduce the scale of corporate office accommodation through the release of Hampshire House in Eastleigh and Fareham Reach and Fareham Borough Council offices in Fareham, which were occupied under lease arrangements.
	15.	With formal hybrid working arrangements established across the organisation in early 2022, data captured through the second half of the year confirmed that utilisation of the County Council’s retained office accommodation continues to be lower than prior to the pandemic.  To address the surplus capacity, a review of opportunities to further reduce the office portfolio has been undertaken, with the initial focus on the offices in the Winchester area.  A strategy for rationalising office accommodation in Winchester was approved by the Leader and Executive Member for Hampshire 2050 and Corporate Services in March 2023.  The approved strategy identified a number of surplus assets for disposal including Capital House, which has now been sold.
	16.	In parallel with the review, the County Council’s Strategic Asset Management Plan (SAMP) for the period 2023 to 2028 was developed and approved by Cabinet in December 2022.  The SAMP provides a strategic framework for the management of the County Council’s land and property assets and, recognising the change in working practices, includes a specific strategic action to “rationalise and reduce the overall size of the County Council’s built estate starting with office accommodation”.
	17.	In the summer of 2023, a further review was undertaken of the County Council’s office accommodation and associated facilities across wider Hampshire.
	18.	This second review incorporated main area office hubs and ancillary sites, library buildings, register offices, former children’s centre buildings and corporate storage across the county.  These are all assets currently functioning as office accommodation or that have the potential to accommodate staff and services currently located in office buildings.  The review considered the context of broader business needs, key adjacencies, potential changes to ways of working, and the rationalisation of business operations.
	19.	The review has identified consolidation and rationalisation opportunities for the County Council’s office accommodation, achieving a reduction in the total number of assets through co-location of services, new ways of working and increased utilisation of retained assets.
	20.	Potential annual revenue savings of £1.8m, identified from early rationalisation opportunities within both the Winchester and wider Hampshire office accommodation strategies, are incorporated in the Savings Programme to 2025 (SP25) proposals approved by the County Council at its meeting on 9 November 2023.
	21.	Assets within the wider Hampshire review are used in diverse ways to support teams delivering area-based services, in particular services for children and adults. The review involved engagement with both Adults’ Heath and Care and Children’s Services directorates to consider future operating models for area-based teams and services.
	22.	A key principle of new ways of working will see buildings utilised in a more holistic and one-organisational way, providing opportunities for a range of teams to utilise the space and assets.  A good, early example of this has been the use of Lymington Library where teams from both Adults’ Health and Care and Children’s Services relocated from a larger underutilised building and now deliver their work in the heart of the community.
	23.	Children’s Services are moving towards Family Help and Community Hub models involving greater collaboration between services and presence in the local community with possible use of partner assets to deliver activities and services.  Adults’ Health and Care teams currently work on a locality model visiting customers at residential locations with lower reliance on Front of House provision within County Council occupied buildings.
	24.	In line with the SAMP the review has also considered links to district council offices and town centre regeneration schemes.
	25.	The review focused on County Council assets currently used primarily as office accommodation and meeting space for County Council employees and for delivery of a range of customer and public facing services.  This includes accommodation the County Council occupies under lease arrangements in several district council offices.  The review also included assets with the potential to provide these requirements in the future, such as larger Library buildings with surplus capacity.   There is a mixture of freehold and leasehold accommodation across the portfolio.
	26.	Other operational buildings where office accommodation is not a main use or where there is little opportunity to provide significant office accommodation, such as schools and nursing homes, were excluded from the scope of this review due to the specialist nature of the accommodation they provide.
	Methodology
	27.	Analysis has been undertaken to determine the property baseline in relation to space, cost, utilisation, sustainability, asset condition and geographic distribution of staff and service users.  Engagement sessions were held with leadership teams across each directorate to gather qualitative information including current and future service strategy, priorities, asset usage, employee and customer experience and operational considerations.  The quantitative and qualitative information was gathered into a single data pack. The key themes and principles identified through the review work have informed the development of strategic options for the optimisation of the area assets.  A dynamic model has been designed to underpin the study and can continue to be used to refine the strategic options.
	28.	Market valuations were undertaken both by the County Council’s in-house Estates Management team and by Mace through online desktop research. Vail Williams Property Consultancy then sense checked these valuation figures.  These valuations were used to inform the financial assessment of the strategic options but will be subject to further market review and testing at the point of disposal of any individual asset.
	29.	Four options for the strategic approach to addressing the under-utilisation and cost liabilities of the area office accommodation assets were identified and evaluated against cost saving over 10 years, operational fit, future liability, business continuity and development / commercial opportunities. Further information is contained in the exempt appendices.
	Key findings
	Capacity, utilisation and demand assessment
	30.	Analysis has been undertaken in relation to space, cost, utilisation, sustainability, asset condition and geographic distribution of service user groups and County Council employees.
	31.	The highest levels of Childrens Services’ service user need are found in urban areas, particularly in the southeast. For Adults’ Health and Care services the southwest and north-central regions represent the highest areas of need.
	32.	Front of House (direct customer facing activities) provision is critical for hosting some children’s services and functions such as Registration services and Library services.
	33.	The total number of County Council employees based at the buildings within the scope of the review is circa 2,000.  The review found that average desk utilisation across the assets in the review was 30% with the busiest peak utilisation reaching 50%.
	34.	Annual expenditure on property costs (rent, rates, utilities) across the assets in the review is £3.3million net of rental income; £3.7million gross.  Business rates account for 36% of expenditure.  Ten assets account for 70% of the total property costs for the assets within the review.
	35.	Several assets are in poor condition and require significant investment to maintain them in a fit for purpose state.  While further work is required to confirm condition and future liability, a possible £7.5 million in condition liabilities over the next 10 years has been identified alongside a likely increase in reactive maintenance costs.
	36.	Comparing future demand with potential capacity under Option 3 (consolidation and more flexible use of retained assets) indicates that there would be sufficient capacity to accommodate anticipated demand based on the current model of utilisation and with changes to the operating models of local service delivery teams.
	Market assessment
	37.	The total potential capital receipt from all disposable sites considered in the area review is estimated at £7.6m.  Within each option, the capital receipt assumes an outright sale of surplus freehold assets. Valuations are estimates using both internal and external sources.  The disposal figures are estimates at this stage.
	38.	A quarter of the assets within the review are leased and therefore cannot provide a capital receipt.  There are several properties that form part of a larger site and as a result would be difficult to dispose of outright.  This review did not consider closure or relocation of any Libraries and therefore the Library buildings are considered as retained in all the options.
	39.	Where freehold assets are identified for disposal, planning appraisals and Title reviews will be required to inform detailed valuations and a per asset disposal strategy.  An assessment of individual assets will be undertaken between unconditional sale (where the purchaser assumes any planning risk) which generally yield lower figures and ‘subject to planning’ sale which should maximise value but requires a longer timescale to complete the disposal process.
	40.	Uncertain market conditions have led to a decrease in transactions for office accommodation, which are significantly down in the south and southeast compared to last year.  The impact of environmental, social, governance (ESG) and Minimum Energy Efficiency Standard (MEES) requirements, the quality of office space on offer and access to available funding (if required), have all led to office values dropping to their lowest levels since the global financial crisis of 2008.  However, where there is reasonable opportunity to secure planning consent for conversion or redevelopment to residential uses, the market is still positive.
	41.	The opportunities for disposal of freehold assets are spread across the county and therefore are unlikely to impact each other.  However local market conditions will need to be considered as part of the disposal strategy for individual assets.
	Cost of Change
	42.	The capital costs for investment intervention to ensure any remaining buildings are fit for purpose have been calculated on per metre square rates using BCIS indices uplifted to Q1 2025.  These are high level assumptions for the purpose of consistent comparison of the strategic options at this stage. Detailed due diligence and analysis of individual assets will be required to confirm the brief and scope of works for each site. Further information is contained within the exempt appendices.
	Review Conclusions
	43.	Considering the capacity, operational, market and financial assessments described above, the strategic direction identified under Option 3, to consolidate the use of office accommodation and to make more flexible use of retained assets across multiple service areas, scores highest against the criteria of cost savings, operational fit, reduction in future liabilities and development opportunities.  This option is dependent on directorates implementing their new service delivery models and potentially increases business continuity risks as changes are implemented.  This latter issue is minimised by the organisation’s ability to work more flexibly and remotely, as demonstrated over the past few years.
	44.	Option 3 provides the opportunity to realising annual revenue savings and other financial benefits, implemented over the medium term to enable effective management of operational and market risks.
	45.	Neither Option 1 or 2 deliver sufficient benefits in terms of provision of fit for purpose space, corporate savings and avoidance of future liabilities to address the County Council’s current priorities.  These options would also miss the opportunity to consolidate employees and services within fewer assets, provide an improved customer journey and enhanced opportunities for staff collaboration
	46.	Option 4, while also offering a consolidated workplace model, requires significant up front capital investment with greater cost risk and lower savings than Option 3.  It reduces the impact on existing Library buildings but does not offer the opportunity to exploit the potential of the larger library buildings as both operational centres and community hubs.
	47.	Further information on the detailed options appraisal is contained within the exempt appendices.
	Consultation and Equalities

	48.	Relevant senior officers across the organisation have provided input to the review in relation to their services’ needs and utilisation of office accommodation.  The Corporate Management Team has been engaged throughout the review.  No public consultation was undertaken as part of the review as this will be carried out, where required, on an individual asset basis.
	49.	The location, parking provision, public transport links and accessibility of the buildings have been considered as part of the review.
	50.	This paper sets out a strategic approach for change. Given both the variation of assets under consideration and the range of options on the future location of staff and services, each relocation project will be subject to its own detailed equality impact assessments.  These will be undertaken as part of the next phase of the programme where appropriate engagement and consultation with staff, trade unions, service users and partners will be undertaken in line with relevant corporate policies and statutory requirements.  A timeline of activity and communication plan will be developed to support this process, and further detail is contained within the exempt appendices.
	Climate Change Impact Assessment
	51.	Hampshire County Council utilises two decision-making tools to assess the carbon emissions and resilience impacts of its projects and decisions.  These tools provide a clear, robust, and transparent way of assessing how projects, policies and initiatives contribute towards the County Council’s climate change targets of being carbon neutral and resilient to the impacts of a 2℃ temperature rise by 2050. This process ensures that climate change considerations are built into everything the Authority does.
	52.	The carbon mitigation tool and climate adaptation tools employed by the County Council were considered and deemed not applicable on this occasion because the decision relates to a strategy rather than a specific project or programme of work.
	53.	A decarbonisation assessment was undertaken comparing energy use by area and using CIBSE energy benchmarks where gas/electricity data was missing.  Emissions were calculated using Defra carbon factors.  Increased occupancy was included in the calculations.  Potential carbon savings for each option were calculated based on an assumed outcome for each asset.
	54.	Energy performance certificate ratings were used where available. Of the  available EPC ratings, 10 are D or below. These would require future investment to bring them up to an acceptable level.
	55.	Potential carbon savings to the County Council for each option are identified below:
		Option 1 – Do nothing. Saves 0 tonnes of CO2e
		Option 2 – Do Minimum. Saves 0 tonnes of CO2e
		Option 3 – Consolidation. Saves up to 3,140 tonnes of CO2e
		Option 4 – Area Hubs. Saves up to 2,950 tonnes of CO2e

	56.	Release of surplus assets under either Option 3 or 4 will reduce the County Council’s overall energy use and operational carbon emissions as well as future liabilities associated with adapting buildings to achieve carbon net zero.
	57.	Several measures have already been undertaken to improve the energy efficiency of the County Council’s office buildings, including the installation of sensor-controlled LED lighting and improved heating controls in a number of buildings.  Opportunities to further improve the energy efficiency of retained buildings will continue to be explored, in line with the climate change strategy for the built estate which forms part of the wider portfolio of strategies and policies that come under the umbrella of the SAMP.
	Recommended approach

	58.	In line with Option 3, consolidation and more flexible use of retained assets, it is proposed to adopt a strategic approach to the rationalisation of the County Council’s office accommodation that maximises the use of strategic assets in key locations, including Tier 1 Libraries across the County. This approach reflects strategic decision making for the medium term.
	59.	The first step in delivering Option 3 will be to prioritise assets that can be released within the SP25 timescale, either by ending a lease or selling the building.  It is anticipated that further consolidation of the assets, in line with the identified strategic option, would be implemented over the medium term period.
	60.	A programme plan will be developed to support the effective delivery of the rationalisation work and minimise service disruption and abortive investment.  Work with directorates to make the necessary changes to enable implementation of the strategy will continue throughout the programme.
	61.	The disposal options for surplus freehold assets will be evaluated to determine the most appropriate approach that balances the financial return with the cost, risk, and timescale to realise the return.  Where there is a clear benefit to doing so, planning consent for alternative use will be sought prior to the disposal of freehold assets.
	62.	Achieving disposal outcomes will be subject to market conditions.  Acceptance of any offer will be subject to confirmation that it is in line with market values and best value considerations as required under s123(2) of the Local Government Act 1972.
	63.	In order to facilitate timely and efficient disposals, achieving best value for the County Council, it is proposed that authority is delegated to the Director of Hampshire 2050 and Assistant Chief Executive, in consultation with the Leader and Executive Member for Hampshire 2050 and Corporate Services or, in their absence, the Deputy Leader, together with the Director of Corporate Operations, to confirm the individual assets that are surplus to the County Council’s requirements, determine the most appropriate disposal strategy for each of these assets and commence the process for disposal at the appropriate time.  In all cases delegated decisions will be supported by a suitable options appraisal and business case.
	Conclusion

	64.	Hampshire County Council’s Strategic Asset Management Plan (SAMP) sets out a vision for the County Council’s estate, including that:
		County Council property is planned and managed as a corporate resource for the people of Hampshire.
		the size of the estate is reduced to fit what we need.
		optimal financial return and commercial opportunities from the rationalisation and disposal of surplus land and buildings is achieved.
	65.	This report recommends a strategic approach that seeks to consolidate the use of corporate office accommodation across wider Hampshire, making more flexible use of retained assets across multiple service areas and enabling the release of a number of older and less suitable assets to realise ongoing revenue savings and capital receipts.
	66.	This approach represents a considered decision making providing a medium term strategy that is aligned to the SAMP and the County Council’s “Serving Hampshire - Strategic Plan 2021 to 2025”, to target its resources to continue to support the most vulnerable residents in Hampshire, whilst building healthy, resilient, and prosperous communities for years to come.

	REQUIRED CORPORATE AND LEGAL INFORMATION:
	Links to the Strategic Plan
	Other Significant Links
	EQUALITIES IMPACT ASSESSMENT:
	1.	Equality Duty
	The County Council has a duty under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 (‘the Act’) to have due regard in the exercise of its functions to the need to:
	-	Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other conduct prohibited by or under the Act with regard to the protected characteristics as set out in section 4 of the Act (age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation);
	-	Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation) and those who do not share it;
	-	Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (see above) and persons who do not share it.
	Due regard in this context involves having due regard in particular to:
	-	The need to remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons sharing a relevant protected characteristic that are connected to that characteristic;
	-	Take steps to meet the needs of persons sharing a relevant protected characteristic that are different from the needs of persons who do not share it;
	-	Encourage persons sharing a relevant protected characteristic to participate in public life or in any other activity in which participation by such persons is disproportionally low.

	2.	Equalities Impact Assessment:
	No equality impacts have been identified arising from this report.  A full equality impact assessment will be completed as part of the implementation phase of the programme.



	4 Corporate Office Accommodation Strategy - Exempt Appendices

